
Meeting of:  Chief Officer Employment Committee
Date: Thursday, 14th November, 2019
Time: 1.30 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Appointment of Chair 

To appoint a Chair of the Committee

2  Urgent Items of Business 

To consider the inclusion on the agenda of any items which the Chair 
considers to be urgent.

3  Revised Employment Procedures ; Chief Officers 3 - 46

To consider the Councils revised conduct and capability procedures for 
Chief Officers.

4  Performance Management for Chief Officers 47 - 51

To consider a report outlining proposals for the introduction of a 
performance management framework for Directors.

Chief Officer Employment Committee Members
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Ashley Dearnley Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Sara Rowbotham

For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Elaine Newsome – Head of Governance
Telephone: 01706 924793
E-mail: elaine.newsome@rochdale.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:elaine.newsome@rochdale.gov.uk


1 | P a g e

Report to Chief Officer Employment Committee
Date of Meeting 14th November 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Resources
Report Author Rosemary Barker
Public/Private Document Public

Revised Employment Procedures – Chief Officers 

Executive Summary

1. The report provides Members with the revised conduct and capability procedures 
relating to the Chief Executive; Directors; and employees holding the responsibility 
for the statutory roles of Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer.

Recommendation

2. That approval be given for the adoption of the revised Employment procedures 
relating to conduct and capability for Chief Officers.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Chief Officer Employment Committee has delegated responsibility to progress 
matters relating to employment of senior officers at Director level and above and 
statutory officers.  

The recommendation outlined in the report will enable the Council to ensure that its 
employment procedures for senior and statutory roles are compliant with the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015, SI 
2015/881.

Key Points for Consideration

4. Alternatives Considered
There is no alternative to revising the conduct and capability procedures for these 
categories of employees. The current procedures date back to 2000 and are not 
compliant with the Statutory Instrument 2015/881.

Although conduct and capability issues are rare for employees in Chief Executive, 
Director and statutory posts, there would be reputational and legal risks to the 
Council should a situation occur that requires progression through a procedure and 
process and the existing procedure and process are not compliant with the 
regulations. 

5 Background

5.1 The Council’s introduction of Single Status in 2000 included introducing a new set of 
employment procedures for all employees, with different procedures applicable for 
different categories of employees; (a) All Employees; (b) Support Staff in locally 

Page 2

Agenda Item 3



2 | P a g e

managed Community & Controlled Schools and (c) Chief Executive, Chief Officer 
and Assistant Chief Officers.

5.2 Of these, (a) and (b) have been updated and refreshed, with (a) in particular being 
completely overhauled most recently in 2016. Those applicable to (c) however have 
not been reviewed or updated since their launch in 2000.

5.3 In May 2019 the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Executives of Local 
Authorities wrote to all Local Authorities in England and Wales to remind them of the 
importance of having appropriate processes in place for potential disciplinary issues 
to be considered quickly, as some Councils had been found lacking, and that the 
Regulations as amended in 2015 had specific provisions that Council’s must have 
in place for Chief Executives and other senior level or statutory posts.

5.4 In particular the Regulations were amended to include specific reference to the roles 
of Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer, and Head of Paid Service and the need 
for dismissals of these roles to be approved by full Council. 

5.5 Accordingly, and in line with the review of the Constitution as undertaken by the Head 
of Governance, the existing procedures have been reviewed and updated to ensure 
compliance. These are appended to this report.

Costs and Budget Summary

6. Financial Implications

6.1 There are no financial implications of the updated procedures.

Any costs associated with the procurement of external independent persons as 
investigators cannot be foreseen however these would be funded corporately as and 
when required.

Risk and Policy Implications

7. Legal Implications

7.1 The Statutory Instrument 2015/881 is included at Appendix 1 of this report for 
Members information and reference.

Consultation

8. Consultation has taken place at JCNG with the recognised Trade Unions

Background Papers Place of Inspection

None None

For Further Information Contact: Rosemary Barker 
rosemary.barker@rochdale.gov.uk 

Appendix 1: Statutory Instrument

Page 3



3 | P a g e
Page 4



4 | P a g e
Page 5



5 | P a g e
Page 6



6 | P a g e
Page 7



7 | P a g e

Appendix 2: Disciplinary Conduct Procedure

Appendix 3: Capability Procedure

Page 8



8 | P a g e
Page 9



Disciplinary Conduct 
Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

Page 10



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title: Disciplinary Conduct Procedure

Summary

Publication Date TBC

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation

Local Authorities (Standing Orders)(England)(Amendment) 
Regulations 2015, SI 2015/881

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents

Council Constitution Part 4L – Employment Procedure Rules, 
OEP8, OEP9, OEP10

Replaces Chief Officer’s Disciplinary Procedure c.2000

Joint Procedure (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint N/A

Procedure Owner (Name/Position) Rosemary Barker, Head of Workforce & Organisational 
Development

Procedure Author (Name/Position) Ann Ridyard, Strategic Lead HR & Pay Operations

Applies to 
Employees of the Council in Chief Executive and Director posts, 
and those holding the responsibility for Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer

Review of Procedure

Last Review Date June 2019

Review undertaken by Ann Ridyard, Strategic Lead – HR Pay Operations

Next Review Date June 2021

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Rosemary Barker Head of Workforce & OD TBC 1

Page 11



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 2

1. Introduction

1.1 The Council and the recognised trade unions have agreed the following procedure to deal with 
disciplinary matters. In order to ensure that the procedure is fair and effective it will be applied in all 
instances where disciplinary action is regarded as warranted, other than where an informal warning is 
given for some relatively minor act of misconduct.

1.2 It is recognised that the disciplinary procedure should not be viewed primarily as a means of imposing 
sanctions. It is also intended that improvement in individual conduct should be emphasised and 
encouraged.

1.3 This procedure applies to those employees of the Council graded in accordance with the Chief 
Executive and Director pay grades, and those with specific responsibility as Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer as referenced within the Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015, SI 2015/881.

1.4 This procedure does not apply to:-

1.4.1 Resignation of the employee, or other termination by mutual consent.
1.4.2 Termination of a fixed-term contract of employment where the term of that contract expires 

without being renewed.
1.4.3 Termination of a temporary appointment where the reason for termination is that the need for 

the employee’s service has expired, or is about to expire.
1.4.4 Incompetence, incapability or other poor performance at work which is considered not to be 

attributable to a wilful disinclination by the employee to carry out their duties efficiently or 
effectively, but which is thought to be attributable to a lack of skill or aptitude. A separate 
procedure exists to deal with such issues.

1.4.5 Termination of employment by reason of redundancy.

2. Responsibility For Discipline 
2.1 A Director is responsible for discipline among those employees within their Directorate to whom this 

procedure applies (other than themselves). The Chief Executive is responsible for discipline among 
Directors. The authority to dismiss, or take any other disciplinary action in relation to a Director is 
vested in the Chief Officer Employment Committee.

2.2 The authority to dismiss, or take any other disciplinary action in relation to the Chief Executive, Head 
of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer is vested in full Council. Any such 
decision can only be taken following the receipt of advice, views or recommendations in respect of 
dismissal or disciplinary action by the Chief Officer Employment Committee of the Council.

3. Conduct Definitions

3.1 Allegations relating to the behaviour and conduct of employees which fall below the standards 
expected and are contrary to the Council’s Code of Conduct and Values and Behaviours of the 
Council will be viewed as unacceptable and investigated.

3.2   Allegations may be considered as misconduct, serious misconduct or gross misconduct depending on 
the nature of the circumstances. Examples of behaviours and acts which may be investigated are 
provided below (these are illustrative and not exhaustive lists):

Page 12



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 3

a) Misconduct – those which are deemed as minor allegations but where it is not appropriate to be 
dealt with informally or where there is a repetition of minor misbehaviour/misconduct following the 
informal stage.  

Examples of misconduct:

 Failure to follow a reasonable management instruction
 Use of inappropriate language or behaviour which is offensive 
 Attendance – unauthorised absence, poor timekeeping, and compliance with the Council’s 

work life balance scheme or agreed patterns of working and failure to comply with absence 
reporting procedures.

 Breach of Council rules and policies – minor breach of health and safety regulations, ICT and 
or IG policies and procedures and Employee Code of Conduct. 

Any of the above examples may be considered as serious or gross misconduct where the individual 
circumstances or repeated pattern of behaviour is considered to be sufficiently serious and therefore 
not deemed as minor misconduct/misbehaviour.

b) Serious Misconduct – where the allegations are considered serious enough that (if proven on the 
balance of probabilities) they may warrant a final written warning or constitute gross misconduct and 
may warrant summary dismissal. 

Examples of serious misconduct:

 Serious insubordination or failure to comply with management instructions
 Incapability due to drugs or alcohol
 Safeguarding allegations 
 Misuse or breach of ICT and/or IG policies and procedures
 Negligence and breach of statutory regulations
 Serious breach of Council policies, procedures and regulations
 Absent without authorisation
 Repeated pattern of unacceptable behaviour

c) Gross Misconduct - allegations which are so serious that (if proven on the balance of probabilities) 
summary dismissal could be warranted for a first offence or a repeated pattern of behaviour over a 
particular timescale. Gross misconduct is where the allegations would fundamentally breach the trust 
and confidence that the Council could reasonably have in the employee to remain employed.

Examples of gross misconduct:

 Theft and fraud – dishonesty and breach of financial regulations, including abuse of time 
recording and payment systems.

 Falsification of documents, claims, records and abuse of position.
 Unacceptable behaviour – physical, verbal or abusive language which is serious and which 

may include bullying and harassment towards employees or clients.  
 Serious negligence and breach of statutory regulations.
 Failure to maintain appropriate and reasonable steps in the security of Council property and 

equipment
 Serious safeguarding allegations in respect of children, young people and/or vulnerable adults.

Page 13



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 4

 Serious breach of ICT and/or IG policies and procedures including inappropriate use of social 
media 

 Failure to disclose information at point of appointment or during employment relating to 
suitability for employment.

 The subject of criminal proceedings which makes employee unsuitable for employment within 
the Council. 

d)   Some Other Substantial Reason (SOSR) – there may be occasions when the Council needs to 
consider the employment position and possible dismissal of an employee for some other substantial 
reason (SOSR) which is not related to conduct or a work performance issue. Examples of an SOSR 
reason may be:-

i. An irretrievable breakdown in the working relationship, trust and confidence between the Council 
and an employee.

ii. The imposition of a third party decision that prevents an employee from fulfilling their contract of 
employment (e.g. a ban or DVLA restriction from driving for an employee with driving duties).

iii. A ‘frustration of contract’ event that prevents an employee from working (e.g. imprisonment or 
suspension/restriction to practice of a professional registered with a statutory organisation).

This is an illustrative and not exhaustive list of circumstances where SOSR may apply. Managers 
must seek advice from HR if they consider that an SOSR issue has arisen. Stages 2 and 3 of this 
procedure will apply.

4. Stage 1 – Informal Resolution

4.1 Minor lapses in conduct which it is felt can be addressed and resolved informally should be dealt 
with promptly at this early stage by management through informal discussions and through 
supervisions/121s.

4.2 The purpose of an informal discussion is to;

 Undertake informal fact finding on the conduct issues brought to the manager’s attention
 Bring the concerns to the attention of the employee
 Allow the employee the opportunity to provide an explanation
 Remind the employee of the standard of behaviour and why this was unacceptable;
 Be satisfied that the employee understands what they have done wrong and will address the 

issue(s);
 Outline the required standards and improvements needed
 Consider any actions appropriate to support the employee such as training, coaching or 

mediation
 Determine if a formal disciplinary investigation is required under Stage 2.

4.3 If the concerns can be resolved at this informal stage the employee will be advised and reminded of 
the standards of conduct and behaviour required. This does not count as disciplinary action nor is this 
counted as a formal warning with a right of appeal.

4.4 The manager must write to the employee to confirm what was discussed and the outcome of the 
meeting in that the manager has considered action short of a formal disciplinary process. This letter 
will constitute a record of the informal discussion will be retained on the employee’s personnel file.

Page 14



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 5

4.5 Management have the discretion, dependent on the nature of the issues to consider if the concerns 
should be escalated to a formal disciplinary investigation under Stage 2. The manager must seek 
advice from the Assistant Director, Legal, Governance & Workforce and/or Head of Workforce & OD 
prior to making this determination.

4.6 In prima facie cases it is not necessary to have undertaken Stage 1 before progressing to Stage 2. It 
may be necessary in some cases to go straight to Stage 2 if the issues warrant this and if this is in 
line with advice from the Assistant Director, Legal, Governance & Workforce and/or Head of 
Workforce & OD.

5. Stage 2 – Investigation

5.1 Referral of allegations to Stage 2 of the procedure will depend on the nature of the alleged 
misconduct and managers need to consider additional points before commencing a formal 
investigation, depending on the circumstances. 

In addition, and in line with 5.4.1 to 5.4.3 below the decision to progress to Stage 2 rests with the 
Chief Executive in cases relating to Directors, and employees in Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer roles. The decision to progress to Stage 2 in a matter involving the 
Chief Executive rests with the Council Leader in line with advice from the Assistant Director, Legal, 
Governance & Workforce.

5.2 Safeguarding

5.2.1 Where a case arises for a disciplinary investigation and includes allegations involving a child, young 
person or vulnerable adult, advice must be sought from the relevant Safeguarding lead in Children’s 
Services and/or Adult Services (LADO in Children’s Services and Head of Safeguarding in Adults). In 
addition discussions should be held with the Head of Workforce & OD. 

5.3 Suspension

5.3.1 At any stage in the procedure, if appropriate, an employee may be suspended in accordance with the 
Council’s Suspension Process document.  A suspension is precautionary and not disciplinary action 
and will not be viewed as a judgement.  

5.3.2 There is no assumption of guilt and suspension can take place at any of the stages of the process (1) 
at the commencement of the investigation (2) during the investigation dependent on findings at that 
stage (3) at the end of the investigation.

5.3.3 The decision to suspend can be made as follows:-

(a) With regard to Directors and employees in Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer roles – the Chief Executive

(b) With regard to the Chief Executive – the Council Leader

5.3.4 Any decision to suspend must be taken in accordance with advice from the Assistant Director, Legal, 
Governance & Workforce and/or the Head of Workforce & OD, and be supported by completion of the 
relevant risk assessment / alternative to suspension document.   The suspension will be kept under 

Page 15



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 6

periodic review (see 5.3.7) by the Suspending Officer. The provisions of the Suspension Process 
document must be followed, the key principles of which are below.

5.3.4 Suspension Meeting – this should be undertaken in a way which ensures that the employee’s dignity 
and right to privacy is respected. In very exceptional circumstances it may be necessary to undertake 
the suspension by means other than a workplace meeting (for example if the employee is not in work 
due to sickness absence) but only when all other options have been considered would alternative 
arrangements be necessary. The employee should be informed that they will have the opportunity to 
respond to the allegations during the investigation and be advised of the need to refrain from 
communication and/or discussion with work colleagues but this does not exclude the employee from 
normal social contact. Facilitated access to information retained within Council premises which is 
relevant to the employee’s case/response to the allegations will be arranged as appropriate.

5.3.5 Pay and Conditions – suspension is on full contractual pay but will not include additional allowances 
for pay which are not included in the contract of employment. If the employee submits a Medical Fit 
Note after the date of suspension then normal contractual sick pay provisions will come into effect for 
the purposes of pay. Annual leave entitlements will continue to be accrued throughout the suspension 
and employees may request annual leave in the normal way subject to the Council’s requirements in 
relation to any relevant investigation process.

5.3.6 Support available – the employee will be assigned a nominated Contact Officer who will provide the 
role of key contact and information conduit for the employee during the period of suspension. This will 
be a senior officer within the HR team. Support will be also be available from the Employee 
Assistance Programme, details of which will be provided to the employee.

5.3.7 Review of decision to suspend – a review will be taken every two weeks with consideration as to the 
grounds for a continuation or cessation of the suspension. Advice would be sought from the Assistant 
Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce and/or the Head of Workforce & OD. 

5.4 Investigation

5.4.1 The Chief Executive or the Council Leader will commission an investigation by an independent 
external investigator.

5.4.2 The Investigator will be afforded access to relevant individuals and resources to enable them to 
undertake and complete the investigation in a timely manner.  

5.4.3 For the purposes of the investigation the Investigator shall be accountable to the Chief Executive or 
the Council Leader and will provide regular updates on progress and timescales. The Chief Executive 
or the Council Leader will be responsible for ensuring that the investigative process is undertaken in a 
timely manner and that the Investigator is progressing in accordance with procedural requirements.

5.4.3 The Investigator will be responsible for arranging administrative support to the investigation including 
note taking at interviews.

5.4.4 The employee will be advised as to who has been commissioned as Investigator and the Council 
reserves the right to make any change necessary or add to the allegations as appropriate in the light 
of the investigation and if so the employee will be informed.

Page 16



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 7

5.4.5 The employee subject to the investigation will have the opportunity to respond to the allegations and 
put this response to the Investigator. This may be (although is not restricted to) through attending an 
investigatory interview.   

5.4.6 In some circumstances an investigatory interview may not be appropriate/necessary/possible and as 
long as the employee is given their right to respond to the evidence / allegations in line with statutory 
guidance then other methods may be used, for example asking the employee to respond in writing or 
through an exchange of correspondence.

5.4.7 Where the employee does not attend the investigatory interview for any reason the investigation will 
continue within reasonable timescales at the discretion of the Council, depending on the 
circumstances and should not unreasonably delay the completion of the investigation. If it is felt that 
the employee is unreasonably delaying matters and/or is being unreasonably obstructive in such 
procedures then this might be considered as a separate issue of misconduct and could in relevant 
circumstances affect the individual’s pay if currently under suspension.

5.4.8 The Investigator may decide to interview any witnesses at any stage or seek written statements.   
Witnesses may be employees of the Council, partner organisations or members of the public and they 
should be advised that their statement/interview notes will be referred to within the Investigator’s 
Report and that they may be required to attend any subsequent disciplinary hearing. 

5.4.9 Anyone interviewed will be instructed to keep the matter and their statement confidential and advised 
that a breach of confidentiality may result in disciplinary action being taken. 

5.5 Investigator’s Report  

5.5.1 The Investigator will produce a report containing the findings of the investigation and this will be 
provided to the Chief Executive for investigations concerning Directors, the Head of Paid Service, the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer; or to the Leader for an investigation concerning the 
Chief Executive for consideration. The report will include a recommendation that the Chief Executive 
or Leader accepts the report of the Investigator, considers the findings in relation to the allegations 
and whether or not there is a case to answer.

5.5.2 In some situations (for example a case where the findings indicate that there isn’t a case to answer) a 
formal report may not be necessary but rather a summary of key findings would be provided instead.

5.5.3 As appropriate the employee will be advised of the outcome of the investigation and the decision of 
the Chief Executive or Leader as to whether or not the matter will be progressed to the next stage. If 
necessary a further meeting will be held with the employee. 

6. Stage 3 – Hearing

6.1 Following the outcome of the investigation, if it is considered that there is a case to answer, the 
Governance Service will arrange a Stage 3 Formal Hearing by the Chief Officer Employment 
Committee and the employee will be required to attend to respond to the allegations. 

6.2 A hearing into the alleged misconduct of a Director will be conducted in accordance with the 
provisions set out in Appendix A of this procedure.

6.3 A hearing into the alleged misconduct of the Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
or Chief Finance Officer will be conducted in accordance with the provisions set out in Appendix B of 
this procedure.

Page 17



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 8

6.4 The employee has a statutory right to be accompanied at the Hearing by a trade union representative 
or a work place colleague but no one else. 

6.5 In the letter inviting the employee to attend the Hearing a number of options will be provided as 
follows:- 

(a) To attend the Hearing in person
(b) To send a trade union representative/work colleague to attend/represent them on their behalf
(c) To submit further views in writing for consideration at the Hearing.

Employees will be required to confirm in writing which option they have chosen.

6.6 There will be an exchange of relevant documents no later than 10 working days prior to the hearing 
including the employee’s statement of case and the Investigator’s report.

6.7 In reaching a decision the Chief Officer Employment Committee will consider all evidence presented 
by both parties to ascertain whether the employee has committed the misconduct as alleged and if so 
if any disciplinary action is justified.

6.8 There are a range of sanctions that may be imposed and this will be dependent on the circumstances 
and seriousness of the case.  

(a) No further Action
(b) A First Written Warning 
(c) A Final Written Warning
(d) Summary Dismissal (without pay in lieu of notice)

6.9 A decision to impose any disciplinary action short of dismissal will remain live for a period of 12 
months from the date of issue. 

6.10 Separate retention arrangements for warnings apply within safeguarding cases and for those 
employees subject to registration requirements under a professional body (e.g. HCPC) managers 
should consider the requirements to refer practitioners to the relevant professional body under any 
fitness to practice rules, in addition to any referral required to the Disclosure & Barring Service.

6.11 A decision to summarily dismiss without pay in lieu of notice will be considered in cases where the 
allegations amount to gross misconduct. 

6.12 The employee will have a right of appeal and this will be confirmed to them in the outcome letter. The 
grounds for appeal will be if the employee considers that there has been a procedural or process 
failing in the way in which their conduct case has been handled and that this has affected the 
outcome.

7. Stage 4 – Appeal

7.1 A Director who wishes to appeal against any form of formal disciplinary action taken against them 
must do so within 10 working days of receipt of the letter notifying the disciplinary action taken. An 
appeal should be made in writing to the Chief Executive. 

Page 18



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 9

7.2 In the case of an appeal by the Chief Executive or Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief 
Finance Officer, the appeal must be put in within 10 working days of receipt of the letter notifying the 
disciplinary action taken. An appeal should be made in writing to the Council Leader.

7.3 An appeal hearing will be conducted by an Appeals Sub-Committee of Chief Officer Employment 
Committee comprised of 5 Elected Members with no previous involvement in the case and two 
independent people.

7.4 Appeals will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Appendices C and D of this 
procedure.

7.5 The decision of the appeal is final and once an Appeal has been concluded this exhausts the 
Council’s internal process.

8 Process for Monitoring Compliance and Effectiveness of the Procedure 
(Mandatory) 

8.1 This procedure will be subject to regular review to ensure effectiveness and compliance with 

Legislative changes, case law and best practice, and updated and refreshed accordingly.

9 Procedure Review Date (Mandatory) 

9.1 The procedure will be reviewed periodically as stated on page 1 above but also as and when 
necessary as in 8. above.

10 Equality and Diversity considerations
10.1 Directors and managers are responsible for ensuring that they operate the procedure in line with the 

Council’s Equality and Diversity policy to provide equality of opportunity for all employees. 

10.2 The Council is committed to ensuring that no-one is discriminated against, disadvantaged or given 
preference, through membership of any particular group, particularly based on age, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership and 
pregnancy and maternity. This procedure will be applied equally to all employees irrespective of their 
background or membership of a particular group.

10.3 In addition, in line with the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 (TULRCA) 
Part 3, the Council is committed to ensure that employees are not disadvantaged or discriminated 
against by virtue of their trade union membership in the application of this procedure.

10.4 The Council will regularly review this procedure’s impact on any equality and diversity issues, and will 
identify any inequalities by monitoring and will take appropriate action where necessary.

11 Appendices

A: Disciplinary Hearing – Directors
B: Disciplinary Hearing – Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer
C: Appeal Hearing – Directors
D: Appeal Hearing - Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer 

Page 19



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 10

APPENDIX A

DISCIPLINARY HEARING CONDUCTED BY CHIEF OFFICERS EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where a Director is the subject of the disciplinary procedure.

1. The Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

2. The Chief Officer Employment Committee must be appointed by the Council at least 20 working days 
before the Hearing.

3. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the hearing; informed, by 
the Governance Service, in writing, of the purpose of it, with the nature of the misconduct alleged being 
set out; be supplied with a list of witnesses it is intended to call and copies of any documents to which it 
is intended to refer; and be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a 
fellow Council employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

4. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the hearing.

5. The Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development (or other 
senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The Head of 
Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the Committee.

6. The under mentioned process will be followed at the hearing :-

a. Investigator (or their representative) to put the case and to call witnesses.
b. Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
c. Committee to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
d. Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
e. Investigator (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
f. Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
g. Investigator (and/or their representative) to sum up.
h. Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

7. The Chair of the Committee may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or 
desirable.  If adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Chair of the 
Committee will specify the nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated 
period.

Page 20



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 11

8. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser to the Committee, and the clerk, shall remain during 
the Committee’s deliberations.

9. On completion of the Committee deliberations, the Chair will normally announce the decision and the 
disciplinary action, if any, to be imposed.  The Chair will also give an explanation for that action.

10. If the employee is exonerated all reference to the matter shall be removed from their disciplinary record 
and the employee notified accordingly.

11. Notice of the dismissal or other formal disciplinary action must not be given by the Chief Officer 
Employment Committee until:-

(i) the Chief Officer Employment Committee has notified the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance 
& Workforce of the person whom the Committee wishes to dismiss or impose other formal 
disciplinary action on and any other particulars which the Committee considers are relevant to the 
decision.

(ii) the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce has notified every member of the Cabinet  
of:
 the name of the person whom the Chief Officer Employment  Committee wishes to dismiss or 

impose other formal disciplinary sanction on
 any other particulars relevant to the dismissal or other formal disciplinary sanction which the 

Committee has notified to the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce and
 the period within which any objection to the dismissal or other formal disciplinary sanction is 

to be made by the Leader of the Council on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director – 
Legal, Governance & Workforce has expired. 

12. Confirmation of the outcome of the Chief Officer Employment Committee will be given to the Director in 
writing within one working day of the Committee decision.

13. This final decision letter will set out the employee’s right of appeal against that disciplinary action.

Page 21



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 12

APPENDIX B

DISCIPLINARY HEARING CONDUCTED BY CHIEF OFFICER EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where the Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer are the subject of the disciplinary procedure.

1. The Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

4. The Chief Officer Employment Committee must be appointed by the Council at least 20 working days 
before the Hearing.

5. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the hearing; informed, by 
the Governance Service, in writing, of the purpose of it, with the nature of the misconduct alleged being 
set out; be supplied with a list of witnesses it is intended to call and copies of any documents to which it 
is intended to refer; and be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a 
fellow Council employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

6. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the hearing.

7. The Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development (or other 
senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The Head of 
Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the Committee.

8. The under mentioned procedure will be followed at the hearing :-

i. Investigator (or their representative) to put the case and to call witnesses.
ii. Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
iii. Committee to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
iv. Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
v. Investigator (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
vi. Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
vii. Investigator (and/or their representative) to sum up.
viii. Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

9. The Chair of the Committee may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or 
desirable.  If adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Chair of the 

Page 22



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 13

Committee will specify the nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated 
period.

10. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser to the Committee, and the clerk, shall remain during 
the Committee’s deliberations.

11. On completion of the Committee deliberations, the Chair will normally announce the decision and the 
disciplinary action, if any, to be recommended to full Council.  The Chair will also give an explanation for 
that action.

12. If the employee is exonerated all reference to the matter shall be removed from their disciplinary record 
and the employee notified accordingly.

13. The decision of the Committee will be confirmed to all parties in writing, where the recommendation is to 
impose a disciplinary sanction the letter will also confirm that this remains subject to approval by full 
Council.

14. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting of the Council on whether or not to approve dismissal 
or any other formal disciplinary action, the Council must take into account, in particular
  

(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Chief Officer Employment  Committee
(b) the conclusion of any investigation into the proposed dismissal/formal disciplinary 

action; and 
(c)    any representation from the relevant Officer.

13. Confirmation of the outcome of the Chief Officer Employment Committee will be given to the employee 
in writing within one working day of the full Council meeting decision.

14. This final decision letter will set out the employee’s right of appeal against that disciplinary action.

Page 23



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 14

 
APPENDIX C

DISCIPLINARY APPEALS CONDUCTED BY THE APPEALS SUB-COMMITTEE OF CHIEF OFFICER 
EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where Directors have been the subject of formal disciplinary 
action up to and including dismissal.

1. The Appeals Sub-Committee of Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of the following whom 
have not had any prior involvement in the matters being considered:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

2. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the appeal hearing.  
They will be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a fellow Council 
employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

3. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Sub-Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the appeal 
hearing.

4. The Appeals Sub-Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development 
(or other senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The 
Head of Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the 
Committee.

5. The under mentioned procedure will be followed at the appeal hearing :-

i. Chair of Disciplinary Committee (or their representative) to put the case and to call 
witnesses.

ii. Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Chair of Disciplinary Committee 
(and/or their representative) and witnesses.

iii. Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the Chair of Disciplinary 
Committee (and/or their representative) and witnesses.

iv. Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
v. Chair of Disciplinary Committee (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee 

(and/or their representative) and witnesses.
vi. Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
vii. Chair of Disciplinary Committee (and/or their representative) to sum up.
viii. Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

Page 24



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 15

6. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser and the clerk to the Appeals Sub-Committee shall 
remain during the Sub-Committee’s deliberations.

7. The Appeals Chair may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or desirable.  If 
adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Appeals Chair will specify 
the nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated period.

8. On completion of the Appeals Sub-Committee deliberations, the Appeals Chair will normally confirm 
with the Committee the outcome that is to be notified to the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & 
Workforce.  The Sub-Committee may allow or disallow, or partially allow the appeal.  If the decision is to 
partially allow the appeal, the Sub-Committee may substitute a lesser form of disciplinary action.  

9. Notification of the Appeal outcome must not be given by the Appeals Sub- Committee until:-

(iii) the Appeals Sub-Committee has notified the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce 
of the appeal outcome and any other particulars which the Committee considers are relevant to the 
decision.

(iv) the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce has notified every member of the Cabinet  
of:
 the outcome of the Appeal
 any other particulars relevant to the appeal outcome which the Committee has notified to the 

Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce and
 the period within which any objection to the appeal outcome is to be made by the Leader of 

the Council on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & 
Workforce has expired. 

10. Confirmation of the outcome of the Appeal’s Sub-Committee will be given to the Director in writing within 
one working day of the Committee decision. In the event of an appeal being allowed, without 
qualification, all references to the matter shall be removed from the employee’s disciplinary record and 
the employee notified accordingly.

11. The decision of the Appeals Sub-Committee will be confirmed to all parties in writing.  No further right of 
appeal will be available to the employee within the Council.

Page 25



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 16

APPENDIX D

DISCIPLINARY APPEALS CONDUCTED BY THE APPEALS SUB-COMMITTEE OF CHIEF OFFICER 
EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where the Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer have been the subject of formal disciplinary action up 
to and including dismissal.

1. The Appeals Sub-Committee of Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of the following whom 
have not had any prior involvement in the matters being considered:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

2. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the appeal hearing.  
They will be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a fellow Council 
employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

3. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Sub-Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the appeal 
hearing.

4. The Appeals Sub-Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development 
(or other senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The 
Head of Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the 
Committee.

5. The under mentioned procedure will be followed at the appeal hearing :-

(a) Chair of Disciplinary Committee (or their representative) to put the case and to call witnesses.
(b) Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Chair of Disciplinary Committee (and/or 

their representative) and witnesses.
(c) Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the Chair of Disciplinary Committee 

(and/or their representative) and witnesses.
(d) Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
(e) Chair of Disciplinary Committee (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee (and/or 

their representative) and witnesses.
(f) Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
(g) Chair of Disciplinary Committee (and/or their representative) to sum up.
(h) Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

Page 26



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 17

6. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser and the clerk to the Appeals Sub-Committee shall 
remain during the Sub-Committee’s deliberations.

7. The Chair may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or desirable.  If 
adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Chair will specify the 
nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated period.

8. On completion of the Appeals Sub-Committee deliberations, the Appeals Chair will normally confirm 
with the Committee the outcome that is to be recommended to full Council.  The Sub-Committee may 
allow or disallow, or partially allow the appeal.  If the decision is to partially allow the appeal, the Sub-
Committee may substitute a lesser form of disciplinary action.  

9. Notification of the Appeal outcome must not be given by the Appeals Sub- Committee until the 
recommended outcome has been considered by full Council.-

10. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting of the Council on whether or not to approve the 
Appeal outcome, the Council must take into account, in particular

  
(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Appeals Sub-Committee and 
(b)    any representation from the relevant Officer.

11. Confirmation of the outcome of the Appeal’s Sub-Committee will be given to the Director in writing within 
one working day of the full Council decision. In the event of an appeal being allowed, without 
qualification, all references to the matter shall be removed from the employee’s disciplinary record and 
the employee notified accordingly.

12. The decision of the Appeals Sub-Committee will be confirmed to all parties in writing.  No further right of 
appeal will be available to the employee within the Council.

Page 27



Disciplinary Conduct Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 18

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 28



Capability Procedure: - 
Chief Officers
HR Procedures

Page 29



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title: Capability Procedure – Chief Officers

Summary

Publication Date TBC

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation

Local Authorities (Standing Orders)(England)(Amendment) 
Regulations 2015, SI 2015/881

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents

Council Constitution Part 4L – Employment Procedure Rules, 
OEP8, OEP9, OEP10

Replaces Chief Officer’s Unsatisfactory Work Performance Procedure 
c.2000

Joint Procedure (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint N/A

Procedure Owner (Name/Position) Rosemary Barker, Head of Workforce & Organisational 
Development

Procedure Author (Name/Position) Ann Ridyard, Strategic Lead HR & Pay Operations

Applies to 
Employees of the Council in Chief Executive and Director posts, 
and those holding the responsibility for Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer

Review of Procedure

Last Review Date June 2019

Review undertaken by Ann Ridyard, Strategic Lead – HR Pay Operations

Next Review Date June 2021

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Rosemary Barker Head of Workforce & OD TBC 1

Page 30



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 2

1. Introduction
1.1 The Council and the recognised trade unions have agreed the following procedure to deal with 

capability matters. 

1.2 This procedure applies to those employees of the Council graded in accordance with the Chief 
Executive and Director pay grades, and those with specific responsibility as Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer as referenced within the Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015, SI 2015/881.

1.3 In the management of employee performance, managers should be clear in their expectations of the 
required standards in the role.

1.4 The aim of this procedure is to achieve an improved level of performance through informal action but 
where this cannot be achieved within realistic timescales the employee will be subject to the formal 
stage of this procedure. 

1.5 A concern over capability would be considered when there is a lack of skills, ability, aptitude and 
knowledge whereas concerns of a wilful intent to under-perform or negligence or gross negligence i.e. 
the employee knows what to do but chooses not to do it or there is deliberate fault by the employee, 
this should be dealt with via the Disciplinary Conduct Procedure as a conduct issue.

1.6 Poor capability may mean that the employee is not working to the required standards in their job. They 
might be making mistakes, not completing tasks to the required standards or within agreed 
timescales, or otherwise performing in a way which has a negative impact on the job, the service or 
colleagues.

1.7 Consideration will be given by the Council as to the implementation of this procedure and progression 
through the stages will not be delayed if the employee is absent from work due to a health related 
absence or does not comply with their requirement to co-operate.

1.8 Equality Act 2010 - consideration should also take account as to whether the employee could be 
regarded as disabled within the definition set out within the Equality Act 2010 and if so whether there 
are any reasonable adjustments that could be considered to assist the employee in their performance 
based on any additional information provided.

2. Management Responsibilities

2.1 A Director is responsible for incapability issues among those employees within their Directorate to 
whom this procedure applies (other than themselves). The Chief Executive is responsible for 
incapability issues among Directors. The authority to dismiss, or take any other formal action in 
relation to a Director’s incapability is vested in the Chief Officer Employment Committee.

2.2 The authority to dismiss, or take any other formal capability action in relation to the Chief Executive, 
Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer is vested in full Council. Any such 
decision can only be taken following the receipt of advice, views or recommendations in respect of 
dismissal or formal action by the Chief Officer Employment Committee of the Council.

2.3 With regard to the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service, the Council Leader, in conjunction with 
support from the Director of Resources, will be responsible for the management of any incapability 
issues through this procedure.

Page 31



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 3

2.4 With regard to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer, management of any incapability 
issues through this procedure will fall to the appropriate senior officer with line management 
responsibility for the individuals concerned.

3. Informal Resolution

3.1 Management (as defined in Section 2 above) are responsible for monitoring capability levels for each 
employee who reports to them through 121 meetings and/or supervisions, and through PDR meetings 
and this is a continuous process.

3.2 The Council’s expectation is that all employees will undertake the full range of their duties to the 
standard required and inform their manager at the earliest opportunity when they are experiencing 
difficulties.  

3.3 Management should ensure that early intervention at this informal action stage is put in place to 
ensure that employees are supported to achieve the required standards where there are concerns 
about capability.

3.4 When a manager has raised concerns about work performance with an employee as part of the 
regular management of the post and there has been insufficient improvement then the manager 
should progress to Stage 1. Employees are required to attend all meetings held under the provisions 
of these procedures and periods of absence during the monitoring periods set by the Council will not 
unreasonably delay the process. 

4. Stage 1   - Formal Monitoring & PIP
4.1 Capability Meeting - The manager will invite the employee to attend a formal capability meeting. The 

purpose of which will be to review the employee’s performance and attempt to establish the reasons 
why the individual’s performance is below the standard expected. 

4.2 The manager should confirm the expectations of the role and the standards required and provide a 
full explanation of where the employee is not meeting the required standard. The manager should 
define the expected standard of performance and give examples. The manager should then examine 
the occasions where these standards have not been met by the employee and establish the reasons 
why the desired levels of performance have not been achieved.

4.3 The employee will be asked to expand on the reasons for poor performance and give their own views 
on their performance and to discuss any outside factors or influences that may be a contributory 
factor. The meeting will discuss how this can be improved; to discuss whether training is appropriate; 
and its outcome will be a performance improvement plan.

4.4 Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) – this document will clearly show the areas for improvement 
and give timescales of when this improvement should be achieved by. Templates are available via the 
HR intranet.

4.5 It is important for management to be specific within the PIP and as clear as possible about the 
shortfall in performance and whether this relates to specific tasks, projects, accuracy or aptitude. 
Targets set should be SMART (Specific Measurable Achievable Result-focused and Time-bound). 
Once these are clear and have been documented the expected standards can be monitored

4.6 Stage 1 Performance Monitoring Period - The manager will set a monitoring period in which there 
will be a need to see an improvement of performance, this period should be no longer than four 

Page 32



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 4

weeks and this will be dependent on the individual circumstances and at the discretion of 
management.

4.7 Throughout the monitoring period the regular management contact and 1-2-1 meetings will continue 
including regular review of the PIP. The first of these review meetings should be within 2 weeks of the 
first informal meeting.

4.8 At the end of the monitoring period the manager will consider if the required standards have been 
achieved and whether or not the stage 1 monitoring period can be ceased.

4.9 Where the level of work performance has not improved to the required standards escalation to Stage 
2 of the procedure will proceed.   This will be at the discretion of the manager depending on the 
circumstances and the needs of the service and seeking guidance if required from the HR Service.

4.10 The manager will inform the employee of the decision and confirmation in writing will be provided.

5. Stage 2 – Formal Monitoring & NTI

5.1 Where the manager has considered it necessary to escalate the concerns to Stage 2 a review of the 
PIP will take place at a meeting with the employee.

5.2 At this meeting the employee will be issued with a Notice to Improve (NTI) letter which constitutes 
formal action under the procedure and the employee will be informed of the Council’s Mandatory Non-
Payment of Increment Policy which withholds the next biennial increment within the employee’s grade 
(if they are eligible for further incremental progression within their grade). The HR & Payroll Service to 
be advised by Management

5.3 For those employees subject to registration requirements under a professional body (e.g. HCPC) the 
manager should consider if the issuing of a Notice to Improve Letter is required to be disclosed to the 
relevant professional body under any fitness to practice rules.

 
5.4 Stage 2 Performance Monitoring Period -  The monitoring period within Stage 2 will be confirmed 

by the manager and should be for a period no longer than four weeks from the date of escalation to 
Stage 2.  Absence of the employee from the workplace will not extend the period of the review. 

5.5 During the Stage 2 period the manager will continue to monitor performance levels as part of the 
121/supervision/PDR procedures and linking in to the PIP and SMART targets. A further meeting will 
be held at the end of the monitoring period to consider whether a significant and sufficient 
improvement has been made to the required standards.  

5.6 If the outcome of Stage 2 is the achievement of the required standard the PIP will be completed and 
the monitoring period will be concluded.  The Notice to Improve Letter will remain on file of the 
employee for a period of 12 months and if performance becomes a cause for concern at any time 
during this period the case will be immediately referred to Stage 3.

6. Stage 3 
6.1 Managers must seek guidance from the HR Service before an escalation to Stage 3 from Stage 2. 

This will occur when the employee has failed to meet the required standards of performance despite 
the steps put in place to support them through the PIP.

6.2 In some cases it may be necessary to escalate to a Stage 3 Hearing where the employee has refused 
to undertake the necessary training to be able to undertake the full duties and responsibilities of their 
post or they have refused to participate or co-operate in this procedure.

Page 33



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 5

6.3 Stage 3 Report 

6.3.1 If it is considered that Stage 3 of the process has been reached, the Chief Executive or the Council 
Leader will commission a report by an independent external investigator. The report will contain the 
PIP and SMART targets and the dates and outcomes of review meetings, and evidence why the 
capability issues are such that the employee’s continuation in their role cannot be sustained.

6.3.2The Investigator will be afforded access to relevant individuals and resources to enable them to 
undertake and complete the report in a timely manner.  

6.3.3For the purposes of the report the Investigator shall be accountable to the Chief Executive or the 
Council Leader and will provide regular updates on progress and timescales. The Chief Executive or 
the Council Leader will be responsible for ensuring that the report is compiled in a timely manner and 
that the Investigator is progressing in accordance with procedural requirements.

6.3.4The Investigator will be responsible for arranging administrative support necessary to the production of 
the report.

6.3.5The employee will be advised as to who has been commissioned to prepare the independent report 
and will have the opportunity to respond to the incapability allegations and put this response to the 
Investigator. This may be (although is not restricted to) through attending an interview with the 
investigator.  

6.3.6In some circumstances an interview may not be appropriate/necessary/possible and as long as the 
employee is given their right to respond to the incapability allegations in line with statutory guidance 
then other methods may be used, for example asking the employee to respond in writing or through 
an exchange of correspondence.

6.3.7The Investigator may decide to interview any witnesses at any stage or seek written statements.   
Witnesses may be employees of the Council, partner organisations or members of the public and they 
should be advised that their statement/interview notes will be referred to within the Investigator’s 
Report and that they may be required to attend any subsequent capability hearing. 

6.3.8Anyone interviewed will be instructed to keep the matter and their statement confidential and advised 
that a breach of confidentiality may result in disciplinary action being taken. 

6.3.9The final report will be provided to the Chief Executive for investigations concerning Directors, the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer; or to the Leader for an investigation concerning the 
Chief Executive or Head of Paid Service for consideration. The report will form the basis of the 
submission to the Hearing.

 
6.4 Stage 3 Hearing  

6.4.1 Following final sign off of the report, the Governance Service will arrange a Stage 3 Formal Hearing 
by the Chief Officer Employment Committee and the employee will be required to attend to respond to 
the evidence of their alleged incapability. 

6.4.2 A hearing into the alleged incapability of a Director will be conducted in accordance with the 
provisions set out in Appendix A of this procedure.

6.4.3 A hearing into the alleged incapability of the Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
or Chief Finance Officer will be conducted in accordance with the provisions set out in Appendix B of 
this procedure.

Page 34



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 6

6.4.4 The employee has a statutory right to be accompanied at the Hearing by a trade union representative 
or a work place colleague but no one else. 

6.4.5 In reaching a decision the Chief Officer Employment Committee will consider all evidence presented 
by both parties to ascertain whether the employee has failed to fulfil their contractual obligations, 
duties and responsibilities as a consequence of their capability. 

6.4.6 There are a range of sanctions that may be imposed if the Chief Officer Employment Committee  
concludes that it has been established at the Hearing that the employee is incapable of fulfilling their 
contract of employment within their role.  

(a) First Written Warning  
(b) Final Written Warning
(c) Dismissal (with pay in lieu of notice)

6.4.7 The employee will have a right of appeal and this will be confirmed to them in the outcome letter. The 
grounds for appeal will be if the employee considers that there has been a procedural or process 
failing in the way in which their capability case has been handled and that this has affected the 
outcome.

7. Stage 4 – Appeal

7.1 A Director who wishes to appeal against any form of formal capability action taken against them must 
do so within 10 working days of receipt of the letter notifying the action taken. An appeal should be 
made in writing to the Chief Executive. 

7.2 In the case of an appeal by the Chief Executive or Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief 
Finance Officer, the appeal must be put in within 10 working days of receipt of the letter notifying the  
action taken. An appeal should be made in writing to the Council Leader.

7.3 An appeal hearing will be conducted by an Appeals Sub-Committee of Chief Officer Employment 
Committee comprised of 5 Elected Members with no previous involvement in the case and two 
independent people.

7.4 Appeals will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Appendices C and D of this 
procedure.

7.5 The decision of the appeal is final and once an Appeal has been concluded this exhausts the 
Council’s internal process.

8 Process for Monitoring Compliance and Effectiveness of the Procedure 
(Mandatory) 

8.1 This procedure will be subject to regular review to ensure effectiveness and compliance with 

Legislative changes, case law and best practice, and updated and refreshed accordingly.

9 Procedure Review Date (Mandatory) 

9.1 The procedure will be reviewed periodically as stated on page 1 above but also as and when 
necessary as in 8. above.

Page 35



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 7

10 Equality and Diversity considerations
10.1 Directors and managers are responsible for ensuring that they operate the procedure in line with the 

Council’s Equality and Diversity policy to provide equality of opportunity for all employees. 

10.2 The Council is committed to ensuring that no-one is discriminated against, disadvantaged or given 
preference, through membership of any particular group, particularly based on age, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership and 
pregnancy and maternity. This procedure will be applied equally to all employees irrespective of their 
background or membership of a particular group.

10.3 In addition, in line with the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 (TULRCA) 
Part 3, the Council is committed to ensure that employees are not disadvantaged or discriminated 
against by virtue of their trade union membership in the application of this procedure.

10.4 The Council will regularly review this procedure’s impact on any equality and diversity issues, and will 
identify any inequalities by monitoring and will take appropriate action where necessary.

11 Appendices
A: Capability Hearing – Directors
B: Capability Hearing – Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief 

Finance Officer
C: Capability Appeal Hearing – Directors
D: Capability Appeal Hearing - Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief 

Finance Officer 

Page 36



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 8

APPENDIX A

CAPABILITY HEARING CONDUCTED BY CHIEF OFFICERS EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where a Director is the subject of the capability procedure.

1. The Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

2. The Chief Officer Employment Committee must be appointed by the Council at least 20 working days 
before the Hearing.

3. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the hearing; informed, by 
the Governance Service, in writing, of the purpose of it, with the nature of the misconduct alleged being 
set out; be supplied with a list of witnesses it is intended to call and copies of any documents to which it 
is intended to refer; and be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a 
fellow Council employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

4. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the hearing.

5. The Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development (or other 
senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The Head of 
Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the Committee.

6. The under mentioned process will be followed at the hearing :-

a. Investigator (or their representative) to present their report and to call witnesses.
b. Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
c. Committee to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
d. Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
e. Investigator (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
f. Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
g. Investigator (and/or their representative) to sum up.
h. Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

7. The Chair of the Committee may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or 
desirable.  If adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Chair of the 
Committee will specify the nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated 
period.

Page 37



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 9

8. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser to the Committee, and the clerk, shall remain during 
the Committee’s deliberations.

9. On completion of the Committee deliberations, the Chair will normally announce the decision and the 
formal action, if any, to be imposed.  The Chair will also give an explanation for that action.

10. If the incapability case is not upheld all reference to the matter shall be removed from their record and 
the employee notified accordingly.

11. Notice of the dismissal or other formal action must not be given by the Chief Officer Employment 
Committee until:-

(i) the Chief Officer Employment Committee has notified the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance 
& Workforce of the person whom the Committee wishes to dismiss or impose other formal action 
on and any other particulars which the Committee considers are relevant to the decision.

(ii) the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce has notified every member of the Cabinet  
of:
 the name of the person whom the Chief Officer Employment  Committee wishes to dismiss or 

impose other formal disciplinary sanction on
 any other particulars relevant to the dismissal or other formal disciplinary sanction which the 

Committee has notified to the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce and
 the period within which any objection to the dismissal or other formal disciplinary sanction is 

to be made by the Leader of the Council on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director – 
Legal, Governance & Workforce has expired. 

12. Confirmation of the outcome of the Chief Officer Employment Committee will be given to the Director in 
writing within one working day of the Committee decision.

13. This final decision letter will set out the employee’s right of appeal against that disciplinary action.

Page 38



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 10

APPENDIX B

CAPABILITY HEARING CONDUCTED BY CHIEF OFFICER EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where the Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer are the subject of the capability procedure.

1. The Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

4. The Chief Officer Employment Committee must be appointed by the Council at least 20 working days 
before the Hearing.

5. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the hearing; informed, by 
the Governance Service, in writing, of the purpose of it, with the nature of the incapability being set out; 
be supplied with a list of witnesses it is intended to call and copies of any documents to which it is 
intended to refer; and be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a 
fellow Council employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

6. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the hearing.

7. The Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development (or other 
senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The Head of 
Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the Committee.

8. The under mentioned procedure will be followed at the hearing :-

i. Investigator (or their representative) to present their report and to call witnesses.
ii. Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
iii. Committee to ask questions of the Investigator (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
iv. Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
v. Investigator (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
vi. Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
vii. Investigator (and/or their representative) to sum up.
viii. Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

9. The Chair of the Committee may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or 
desirable.  If adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Chair of the 
Committee will specify the nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated 
period.

Page 39



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 11

10. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser to the Committee, and the clerk, shall remain during 
the Committee’s deliberations.

11. On completion of the Committee deliberations, the Chair will normally announce the decision and the 
formal action, if any, to be recommended to full Council.  The Chair will also give an explanation for that 
action.

12. If the incapability case is not upheld all reference to the matter shall be removed from their record and 
the employee notified accordingly.

13. The decision of the Committee will be confirmed to all parties in writing, where the recommendation is to 
impose a formal sanction the letter will also confirm that this remains subject to approval by full Council.

14. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting of the Council on whether or not to approve dismissal 
or any other formal sanction, the Council must take into account, in particular
  

(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Chief Officer Employment  Committee
(b) the conclusion of any investigation into the proposed dismissal/formal action; and 
(c)    any representation from the relevant Officer.

13. Confirmation of the outcome of the Chief Officer Employment Committee will be given to the employee 
in writing within one working day of the full Council meeting decision.

14. This final decision letter will set out the employee’s right of appeal against that action.

Page 40



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 12

 
APPENDIX C

DISCIPLINARY APPEALS CONDUCTED BY THE APPEALS SUB-COMMITTEE OF CHIEF OFFICER 
EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where Directors have been the subject of formal capability  
action up to and including dismissal.

1. The Appeals Sub-Committee of Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of the following whom 
have not had any prior involvement in the matters being considered:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

2. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the appeal hearing.  
They will be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a fellow Council 
employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

3. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Sub-Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the appeal 
hearing.

4. The Appeals Sub-Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development 
(or other senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The 
Head of Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the 
Committee.

5. The under mentioned procedure will be followed at the appeal hearing :-

i. Chair of Capability Committee (or their representative) to put the case and to call witnesses.
ii. Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Chair of Capability Committee 

(and/or their representative) and witnesses.
iii. Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the Chair of Capability  

Committee (and/or their representative) and witnesses.
iv. Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
v. Chair of Capability Committee (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee 

(and/or their representative) and witnesses.
vi. Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
vii. Chair of Capability Committee (and/or their representative) to sum up.
viii. Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

Page 41



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 13

6. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser and the clerk to the Appeals Sub-Committee shall 
remain during the Sub-Committee’s deliberations.

7. The Appeals Chair may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or desirable.  If 
adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Appeals Chair will specify 
the nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated period.

8. On completion of the Appeals Sub-Committee deliberations, the Appeals Chair will normally confirm 
with the Committee the outcome that is to be notified to the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & 
Workforce.  The Sub-Committee may allow or disallow, or partially allow the appeal.  If the decision is to 
partially allow the appeal, the Sub-Committee may substitute a lesser form of formal action.  

9. Notification of the Appeal outcome must not be given by the Appeals Sub- Committee until:-

(iii) the Appeals Sub-Committee has notified the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce 
of the appeal outcome and any other particulars which the Committee considers are relevant to the 
decision.

(iv) the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce has notified every member of the Cabinet  
of:
 the outcome of the Appeal
 any other particulars relevant to the appeal outcome which the Committee has notified to the 

Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce and
 the period within which any objection to the appeal outcome is to be made by the Leader of 

the Council on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & 
Workforce has expired. 

10. Confirmation of the outcome of the Appeal’s Sub-Committee will be given to the Director in writing within 
one working day of the Committee decision. In the event of an appeal being allowed, without 
qualification, all references to the capability matter shall be removed from the employee’s record and 
the employee notified accordingly.

11. The decision of the Appeals Sub-Committee will be confirmed to all parties in writing.  No further right of 
appeal will be available to the employee within the Council.

Page 42



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 14

APPENDIX D

CAPABILITY APPEALS CONDUCTED BY THE APPEALS SUB-COMMITTEE OF CHIEF OFFICER 
EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE

Explanatory Note: This applies in cases where the Chief Executive, Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer have been the subject of formal capability action up 
to and including dismissal.

1. The Appeals Sub-Committee of Chief Officer Employment Committee will consist of the following whom 
have not had any prior involvement in the matters being considered:-

 (i) Five elected members of the Council appointed on a politically balanced basis, at least one of 
whom shall be a member of the Cabinet;

(ii) at least two independent persons appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of the Localism 
Act 2011 or, in the case of the Council having insufficient independent persons, such 
person(s) appointed by another authority for the same purpose, such persons being appointed 
to the Chief Officer Employment Committee in the following priority order - 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority and who is a 

local government elector;
(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the authority;
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another authority or 

authorities.

2. The employee will be given a minimum of 10 working days advanced notice of the appeal hearing.  
They will be advised of the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a fellow Council 
employee of their choice, if they wish, but by no-one else.

3. Copies of all documents to be referred to at the hearing and a list of witnesses to be called will be 
submitted by both parties to the Sub-Committee not less than 5 working days in advance of the appeal 
hearing.

4. The Appeals Sub-Committee will be advised by the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development 
(or other senior HR officer as their nominee) who has not had any prior involvement in the matter. The 
Head of Governance (or other senior governance officer as their nominee) will act as clerk to the 
Committee.

5. The under mentioned procedure will be followed at the appeal hearing :-

(a) Chair of Capability Committee (or their representative) to put the case and to call witnesses.
(b) Employee (or their representative) to ask questions of the Chair of Capability Committee (and/or 

their representative) and witnesses.
(c) Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the Chair of Capability Committee 

(and/or their representative) and witnesses.
(d) Employee (or their representative) to put their case and to call witnesses.
(e) Chair of Capability Committee (and/or their representative) to ask questions of employee (and/or 

their representative) and witnesses.
(f) Members of the Appeals Sub-Committee to ask questions of the employee (and/or their 

representative) and witnesses.
(g) Chair of Capability Committee (and/or their representative) to sum up.
(h) Employee (or their representative) to sum up.

Page 43



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 15

6. Following the summing up, both parties, together with their representatives and any witnesses called, 
will withdraw.  If it is necessary to recall one of the parties for further information before a decision is 
taken, both parties shall be recalled.  The adviser and the clerk to the Appeals Sub-Committee shall 
remain during the Sub-Committee’s deliberations.

7. The Chair may adjourn the proceedings at any stage if this appears necessary or desirable.  If 
adjourning for the purpose of enabling further information to be obtained, the Chair will specify the 
nature of that information.  Any adjournment will normally be for a stated period.

8. On completion of the Appeals Sub-Committee deliberations, the Appeals Chair will normally confirm 
with the Committee the outcome that is to be recommended to full Council.  The Sub-Committee may 
allow or disallow, or partially allow the appeal.  If the decision is to partially allow the appeal, the Sub-
Committee may substitute a lesser form of formal capability action.  

9. Notification of the Appeal outcome must not be given by the Appeals Sub- Committee until the 
recommended outcome has been considered by full Council.-

10. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting of the Council on whether or not to approve the 
Appeal outcome, the Council must take into account, in particular

  
(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Appeals Sub-Committee and 
(b)    any representation from the relevant Officer.

11. Confirmation of the outcome of the Appeal’s Sub-Committee will be given to the Chief Executive, Head 
of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer in writing within one working day of the full 
Council decision. In the event of an appeal being allowed, without qualification, all references to the 
capability matter shall be removed from the employee’s record and the employee notified accordingly.

12. The decision of the Appeals Sub-Committee will be confirmed to all parties in writing.  No further right of 
appeal will be available to the employee within the Council.

Page 44



Capability Procedure: - Chief Officers
HR Procedures

rochdale.gov.uk 16

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 45



Report to Chief Officer Employment Committee

Date of Meeting 14th November
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Steve Rumbelow
Public/Private Document

Performance Management for Chief Officers

Executive Summary

1. The report provides Members of the Chief Officer Employment Committee with a 
proposal to further develop performance assessment for Chief Officers and to use this as 
the basis for biennial incremental progression. This follows the decision taken at the Council 
meeting in December 2013 that future incremental progression for this group should be 
based on assessment of performance; the mechanism for which to be agreed by Members 
at a future date. 

There is no proposal to change the payscale for Directors or to change the Job Evaluation 
arrangements.

Recommendation

2. That approval be given to the introduction of a performance management framework for 
Directors based on the values and behaviours of the organisation and performance.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Chief Officer Employment Committee have delegated responsibility from Council to 
progress matters relating to the employment of senior officers at Director level or above and 
statutory officers.

The introduction of a performance management framework for Directors, linked to the 
Council’s agreed biennial incremental progression policy enhances the current PDR 
process and complies with the 2013 requirement of Council. 

Key Points for Consideration

4. Alternatives Considered

A number of approaches were considered but the suggested option is 
recommended on the basis of simplicity, transparency and linkage to the values 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

and behaviours of the organisation. It is also proposed on the basis of potential to 
extend it’s use to other senior managers within the organisation.

Background

A proposal was taken to Council on 11 December 2013 recommending a change 
to the remuneration of Executive Directors following a Job Evaluation exercise 
using the HAY Job Evaluation Scheme
The recommendation was not accepted in full by Council and at the time the 
Executive Directors in post were assimilated onto the pay structure on the basis 
of their rates of pay at that time.   
Since this date there has been no incremental progression for Executive Directors.

There have been a number of changes to the cohort of Executive Directors since 
this decision was taken at Council. These include;-

 The disestablishment of the post of Deputy Chief Executive.
 The establishment of the post of Director of Economy 
 The retirement of the Director of Resources and the subsequent 

appointment of a new Director of Resources with some changes to 
responsibilities.

 The retirement of the Director of Adult Care Services and deletion of the 
post from the establishment

 The appointment of a Director of Integrated Commissioning (jointly funded 
by the NHS) which also incorporates the statutory role of Director of Adult 
Social Services (DASS)

 The role of Director of Integrated Commissioning has subsequently been 
evaluated using the HAY Job Evaluation scheme and scored the requisite 
number of points to be included as an Executive Director.  

These changes have resulted in an ongoing annual saving to the Local Authority 
of £204K 
In 2012 the Council implemented a temporary freeze to annual incremental 
progression as a budget savings measure that formed part of a package of 
changes to terms and conditions of service. 

This measure was re-visited as part of a further review of terms and conditions of 
service in 2015 and was made permanent on a biennial basis through changes to 
contracts of employment with effect from 1st April 2017. This means that 
increments are payable every other year for all employees until the employee 
reaches the maximum point of their grade. Eligible employees received an 
increment in April 2017. This however did not apply to the Executive Directors.

The Council has a system of Personal Development Reviews (PDRs) where all 
employees have an annual review of performance. This includes the Executive 
Directors and other senior managers.    

Incremental progression however is not currently linked to the outcomes of these 
reviews.  
Incremental progression is withheld however in disciplinary and capability 
situations in line with the mandatory non-payment of increment policy.   
In line with the Council’s incremental progression policy increments were payable 
in 2019 for those who were eligible.

Page 47



4.7

4.8

The new values and behaviours will be embedded in a revised PDR process 
across the organisation.  
Recommended mechanism for payment of increments

To pay increments with effect from 01/04/2019 to those Executive Directors not at 
the top of the scale who have achieved the objectives set at the 2018/19 PDR.    
From 2019 to implement a revised PDR process for Executive Directors based on 

 Attitude and Behaviour.
 Directorate performance
 Corporate performance

A suggested performance matrix is attached as Appendix 1. This would 
incorporate a mix of objectives based on the three criteria above and would include 
360 degree assessment. 
The Chief Executive and Head of Workforce will work together with the job holders 
to set these objectives ensuring that they are SMART in line with the principles of 
the Council’s PDR process   
The new Council’s Values and Behaviours will inform the objectives linked to 
Attitudes and Behaviours
The next increments payable to Executive Directors will be to those eligible on 
01/04/21, subject to any change in the policy regarding increments for the Council 
as a whole. 

Costs and Budget Summary

5.   The potential cost to pay increments to those in scope would be circa £6K per annum 
plus on costs for each individual affected.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. Legal Implications

There are potential Equal Pay implications of failing to introduce a fair and consistent 
approach to employee rewards. It should be noted that there is some risk to the 
organisation of introducing different criteria for one group of employees. Subject to 
agreement from Chief Officer Employment Committee the Chief Executive  will consult 
with the individuals concerned before any new arrangements are implemented.

Consultation

7. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

For Further Information Contact: Steve Rumbelow, , 
steve.rumbelow@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 48



Page 49



Objectives Chief 
Executive

Director of 
Economy

Director of 
Children’s Services 

Director of Integrated 
Commissioning

Director of 
Resources

Director of 
Neighbourhoods

Attitude Improvement in relevant score on Employee Survey relating to Senior Management visibility/conduct etc  
Individual Personal Development Plans

 360degree feedback 

Include here all the Corporate wide objectives for the coming year. Each Director would have corporate objectives for which they will 
have responsibility. These will include performance against values 

Aim to have SMART objectives 

 

Corporate
Annual 
objectives

Directorate More specific Directorate Objectives 

P
age 50


	Agenda
	3 Revised Employment Procedures ; Chief Officers
	Append. 1 for Revised Employment Procedures ; Chief Officers
	Capability Procedure Chief Officers

	4 Performance Management for Chief Officers
	Append. 1 for Performance Management for Chief Officers


